ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Appeal from Greenville County

JUN 17 2015

Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ROBERT WILSON WOODS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000814

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in precluding appellant from cross-examining the complainant concerning a prior false allegation of sexual abuse in violation of both State v. Boiter, 302 S.C. 381, 396 S.E.2d 364 (1990) and appellant's Sixth Amendment rights to confront witnesses and present a complete defense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 19, 2013, a Greenville County grand jury indicted appellant for first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and a separate count of lewd act. R. 243. On April 8, 2013, appellant was tried before the Honorable Robert E. Hood and a jury. R. 1. Christy Sustakovitch represented the State. R. 1. Tim Sullivan represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant. R. 221, ll. 14 – 20. Judge Hood sentenced appellant to twenty-five years' imprisonment for criminal sexual conduct. R. 229, l. 5 – 230, l. 22. The court sentenced appellant to a consecutive term of ten years' imprisonment suspended upon the service of five years' probation for lewd act. R. 229, l. 5 – 230, l. 22. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in precluding appellant from cross-examining the complainant concerning a prior false allegation of sexual abuse in violation of both *State v. Boiter*, 302 S.C. 381, 396 S.E.2d 364 (1990) and appellant's Sixth Amendment rights to confront witnesses and present a complete defense.

Relevant Facts

No physical evidence of abuse exists in this case. Appellant denied the abuse to the police. R. 142, l. 1 – 144, l. 19. R. 147, l. 16 – 149, l. 8. The complainant, Minor, alleged that appellant anally raped her. R. 102, l. 20 – 105, l. 20. She testified this only happened one time. R. 106, ll. 5 – 7. Minor claimed appellant did not touch any other part of her body. R. 111, ll. 21 – 23. Her brother was in the next room, but she did not make any noise or ask for help. R. 111, ll. 5 – 6. She had heard her mother having sex with appellant. R. 112, ll. 10 – 20. She had also seen pornography that her mother admitted she kept in her closet. R. 112, ll. 21 – 24; R. 128, ll. 12 – 14.

Minor first reported the allegation at school. R. 74, l. 14 – 75, l. 7. Minor was living with her aunt at the time. R. 107, ll. 8 – 12. When the police informed her mother about the allegations, her mother was reluctant to help the police. R. 137, ll. 12 – 23. The mother confronted Minor on the telephone and was “screaming” at her. R. 159, ll. 12 – 15.

Prior to trial, appellant moved to admit Minor's prior false allegations of abuse. R.232. The State moved to exclude such evidence pursuant to South Carolina's Rape Shield Law, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-659.1. R. 234. Judge Hood heard argument on both motions prior to trial. R. 13, l. 2 – 15, l. 25. The State argued that Minor's prior allegation was not false, but admitted that “law enforcement did not elect to pursue any charges.” R. 13, ll. 3 –

24. Appellant cited State v. Boiter, 302 S.C. 381, 396 S.E.2d 364 (1990)¹ and State v. Sprouse, 325 S.C. 275, 478 S.E.2d 871 (Ct. App. 1996) in support of its admissibility.

The solicitor then called Investigator Cheryl Cromartie (“Cromartie”) of the Greenville County Sheriff’s Office. R. 16, l. 3 – 17, l. 2. She investigated Minor’s prior complaint, which was lodged with law enforcement by a family friend. R. 17, ll. 9 – 23. Cromartie interviewed Minor. R. 19, ll. 5 – 17. Minor told Cromartie that a man named “Kevin” touched her on her breast and vagina. R. 19, ll. 5 – 17. The State’s physician performed a medical examination. R. 19, ll. 18 – 24. At some point, the allegation became that a man named “Calvin” had touched her. R. 20, ll. 3 – 19. A forensic interview was done. R. 20, l. 22 – 21, l. 25. After the interview, Cromartie decided not to pursue charges. R. 22, ll. 5 – 14. Cromartie claimed that her decision was based on “the totality of the circumstances” and not any disbelief of Minor. R. 22, ll. 5 – 24. She also claimed she “could not prove who the actual subject would have been at the time and I just didn’t have enough information or details to pursue criminal charges.” R. 22, ll. 9 – 14.

On cross-examination, Cromartie admitted that Minor’s father’s name was “Kevin.” R. 23, ll. 14 – 21. She never interviewed Kevin. R. 25, ll. 12 – 23. Cromartie also admitted that Minor’s mother had a boyfriend named “Calvin” who the family friend identified as the abuser. R. 26, l. 11 – 27, l. 16.

After Cromartie’s testimony, Judge Hood asked defense counsel, “Tell me how you have shown that that statement is false.” R. 28, ll. 13 – 14. Defense counsel argued that the

¹ The transcript reflects counsel cited to “DeBorder(ph).” R. 14, l. 7. Appellate counsel’s research did not reveal a case by that name and “Boiter” appears to be the closest case phonetically that is relevant to this issue. During later argument, the transcript reflects discussion of the “Boyer” case, but Judge Hood’s citation to the Southeastern Reports reveals that Boiter was the case being discussed. R. 36, ll. 11 – 25.

police did not believe Minor because they “never followed up and a similar situation in this case and they proceeded to go to trial.” R. 28, l. 15 – 29, l. 6. Defense counsel further argued that “nobody believed” Minor. R. 29, ll. 3 – 6. Judge Hood stated that just because the police did not charge anyone did not mean they did not believe Minor. R. 29, ll. 7 – 8. Defense counsel argued, “I have no other way to show it. I can’t get up here and hold her down and say you lied. That’s the only thing I can do.” R. 29, ll. 9 – 11.

The State argued that the defense had not met their “high” burden of proving Minor’s statements were false under Boiter. R. 30, l. 8 – 31, l. 10. The State also argued that the defense needed to show a recantation by the child. R. 30, ll. 8 – 17.

Judge Hood ultimately ruled “nothing from the 2009 case is coming in.” R. 36, ll. 11 – 12. Citing the test from Boiter, the court found that defendant had not proven to his satisfaction that the prior accusation was false. R. 36, ll. 11 – 25. Defense counsel again objected, arguing, “I believe I’ve presented enough with her direct statements and the police not following up, that it must have been false and that’s all I know how to do.” R. 37, ll. 15 – 19. The court noted for the record that appellant preserved his objection during a bench conference when Minor testified. R. 152, l. 13 – 153, l. 9.

Discussion

The trial court erred in finding that appellant did not prove the prior allegation from 2009 was false. “[I]n deciding admissibility of evidence of a victim’s prior accusation, the trial judge should first determine whether such accusation was false.” Boiter at 383, 396 S.E.2d at 365. “If the prior allegation was false, the next consideration becomes remoteness in time.” Id. “Finally, the trial court shall consider the factual similarity between prior and present allegations to determine relevancy.” Id. at 383-84, 396 S.E.2d at 365.

Minor's allegation was false because she accused two people—Kevin and Calvin—of the same offense. Both could not have been true. Either Kevin abused her, Calvin abused her, or neither abused her. Under any of these scenarios, Minor made a false accusation against someone. No extraneous proof was necessary. To the extent other proof of falsity was necessary, Cromartie's testimony showed that police did not prosecute even though the evidence in 2009 was the same as the evidence in this case. The only reasonable inference is that the police did not believe Minor.

Furthermore, the "high" burden of proving the accusation was false from Boiter, as applied by the court, was incorrect and also violates appellant's Sixth Amendment rights under the Confrontation Clause. As recognized in Boiter, the Confrontation Clause applies to attacks on a witness's bias or credibility. Boiter at 383, 396 S.E.2d at 365. See also U.S. Const. amend. VI and XIV. Trial counsel argued the trial judge applied a burden that was too high when he told the court that he had no other way to prove the falsity of Minor's prior statements.

The United States Supreme Court recognized the primacy of the Confrontation Clause in confronting accusers in sexual abuse cases in Olden v. Kentucky, 488 U.S. 227 (1988). In Olden, the defendant was not allowed to introduce evidence that the complainant had a motive to lie about her accusations. She wanted to prevent her boyfriend from learning that she had been cheating on him. Id. at 229-30. The complainant was dropped off at her boyfriend's house after a sexual encounter with the defendant. Id. The defendant wanted to cross-examine the complainant on whether she lived with her boyfriend, but the trial court excluded this evidence. Id.

The Court held that exclusion of the evidence in Olden violated the defendant's rights under the Confrontation Clause. Id. at 231. One of the grounds for excluding the evidence was that its prejudicial effect would outweigh its probative value (the complainant and her boyfriend were of different races and the trial judge believed disclosure of the interracial relationship would prejudice the jury against her). Id. at 232. The Court ruled that the defendant's constitutional rights trumped such concerns. Id.

In a case from the Seventh Circuit, Judge Posner found that exclusion of prior false allegations violated the defendant's Sixth Amendment rights. Redmond v. Kingston, 240 F.3d 590, 593 (7th Cir. 2001). The complainant admitted she had fabricated a prior rape allegation to get her mother's attention. Id. at 591. Analyzing the case on a habeas petition under AEDPA review, the court held that exclusion of such evidence violated the established precedent under Olden. Id. at 592-93.

In White v. Coplan, 399 F.3d 18 (1st Cir. 2005), the First Circuit examined New Hampshire's "demonstrably false" standard for admitting such evidence. White at 22. The White court differentiated between the rights of cross-examination and presenting extrinsic evidence. Id. at 25. The court said, "The ability to ask a witness about discrediting prior events—always assuming a good faith basis for the question—is worth a great deal." Id. The court noted the defendant had "almost no way to defend himself except by impeachment." Id. Citing Olden, the court said, "Evidence suggesting a motive to lie has long been regarded as powerful evidence undermining credibility, and its importance has been stressed in Supreme Court confrontation cases. Id. at 26 *also citing* Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673 (1986); Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308 (1974). The court determined that on the facts before it, the exclusion of the

complainant's prior allegations violated the defendant's constitutional right to cross-examination. White at 26.

The White court did not hold that New Hampshire's "demonstrably false" requirement was *per se* unconstitutional. Id. Indeed, it stated that a general constitutional challenge to New Hampshire's standard would be "an uphill struggle," quoting its own precedent dealing with extrinsic evidence. Id. quoting Ellsworth v. Warden, 333 F.3d 1, 6 (1st Cir. 2003). The First Circuit's analysis suggested the necessity of a case-by-case determination as to the level of proof required regarding falsity and a need to recognize the difficulties of proof in each case for the defendant.

The First Circuit dealt with this issue again in 2012. Abram v. Gerry, 672 F.3d 45 (1st Cir. 2012). Interpreting its holding in White, the court wrote:

We thus held in White that a defendant may have a Sixth Amendment right to cross-examine a witness regarding prior allegations of sexual assault on a lesser showing than "demonstrable falsity," but only where multiple factors in combination weigh heavily in favor of allowing such questioning. It is significant that the accusations in White, while falling short of the New Hampshire standard, **nonetheless were false to a high degree of likelihood, i.e., to a "reasonable probability."** **Such prior accusations will only be relevant to the victim's credibility if the jury concludes they are false.**

Abram, 672 F.3d at 50 (emphasis added). The court then applied the "reasonable probability" standard to the facts of that case. Id. at 50-51.

Under the White and Abrams court's "reasonable probability" approach, the evidence in this case should have been admitted. Boiter does not set a definitive standard for the admission of false allegation evidence and it is likely that a *per se* rule would not pass constitutional muster. The "reasonable probability" standard harkens to traditional rules limiting cross-examination which impose a good-faith basis for the defense to show