ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-000814

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

v.

ROBERT WILSON WOODS,

RECEIVED

JUL 07 2015

SC Court of Appeals
RESPONDENT,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHRISTINA CATOE BIGELOW
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 73562

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville County Courthouse
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 467-8282

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Appellant's argument that the victim's prior allegations were false "because she accused two people" of the same offense is not preserved where defense counsel did not make this argument below. Likewise, Appellant's argument that the trial judge violated the Confrontation Clause is not preserved for review since defense counsel did not argue this issue below. Regardless, the trial judge did not err by excluding evidence of a purportedly false prior allegation of sexual abuse made by the victim against another individual where Appellant established that law enforcement failed to further investigate the prior allegations but his showing was wholly insufficient to establish that the prior allegations were actually false.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted in Greenville County for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree and lewd act upon a minor. On April 8, 2013, he proceeded to trial before the Honorable Robert E. Hood and a jury. The jury found Appellant guilty of both offenses, and Judge Hood sentenced him to twenty-five years for criminal sexual conduct with a minor and ten years, suspended to five years of probation, for lewd act upon a minor. The lewd act sentence was to be a consecutive sentence. A timely notice of appeal was served and filed.

ARGUMENT

Appellant's argument that the victim's prior allegations were false "because she accused two people" of the same offense is not preserved where defense counsel did not make this argument below. Likewise, Appellant's argument that the trial judge violated the Confrontation Clause is not preserved for review since defense counsel did not argue this issue below. Regardless, the trial judge did not err by excluding evidence of a purportedly false prior allegation of sexual abuse made by the victim against another individual where Appellant established that law enforcement failed to further investigate the prior allegations but his showing was wholly insufficient to establish that the prior allegations were actually false.

Background Facts

The victim, age ten at the time of trial, was raised in a very unstable home environment. The victim's mother "walked off and left her oldest child," and when the victim was born, "it seemed like everybody was raising her." (R. p. 156, lines 6-10). The victim's younger brother was raised by the victim's aunt. (R. p. 156, lines 6-11). The Department of Social Services ("DSS") became a part of the victim's life at an early age. (See R. p. 125-26; p. 235). The victim stayed with her mother some of the time but her father had little contact with her and did not assist her financially. (R. p. 26, lines 8-10; p. 129, lines 11-14). The victim's mother had different boyfriends from time to time and she would allow them to live with her. Appellant became one of these boyfriends after the victim's mother met Appellant "over the phone at work" while she was working in housekeeping at a Holiday Inn. (R. p. 120, lines 1-16). The victim's mother invited Appellant over to the house a couple of days later and after "about a week or so" she moved Appellant into the house. (R. p. 120, lines 10-24).

When the victim started third grade in 2011, her teacher noticed she was emotional, cried a lot, and did not always complete her work. (R. p. 73-75). Near the beginning of the school year, the victim disclosed to her teacher that she had been

sexually abused recently in her mother's bedroom. (R. p. 74; p. 78-79). The teacher immediately sent the victim to the guidance counselor pursuant to protocol. (R. p. 74-75). After speaking with the victim, the guidance counselor reported the sexual abuse to DSS. (R. p. 77-78). The victim was referred for a medical exam with Dr. Nancy Henderson, and the victim, then age nine, disclosed the sexual abuse to Dr. Henderson. (R. p. 90-91).

At trial, the victim testified that she was staying with her mother in Greenville before starting third grade. (R. p. 101). She testified that she lived with her mom, Appellant, and her brother. (R. p. 101, lines 23-25). The victim liked Appellant initially and liked his dog "Buttercup." (R. p. 102). However, one day, when the victim's mother was at work, Appellant called the victim into her mother's bedroom and "put his private in [the victim's] butt." (R. p. 103, lines 2-14). The victim's little brother was in another room at the time. (R. p. 103, lines 4-8). When Appellant penetrated her, he told the victim that what he was doing would help her "stop scratching." (R. p. 103, lines 16-24). Note that the victim had a condition called scabies, which caused her to have an itchy rash. (R. p. 93, lines 14-24). When Appellant penetrated her, the victim was laying on her mother's bed and Appellant was standing behind her. (R. p. 104). When he was finished, Appellant told the victim not to tell her mother about what he had just done. (R. p. 106). The victim did not tell her mother because she was afraid her mother would believe Appellant over her. (See R. p. 106, lines 11-12).

Appellant did not testify at trial and he presented no defense witnesses. The jury convicted Appellant and the trial judge sentenced him to twenty-five years for criminal

sexual conduct with a minor and ten years, consecutive but suspended to five years of probation, for lewd act upon a minor.

Pretrial Motion to Exclude

Prior to the commencement of trial, the State moved to exclude evidence of a prior allegation of sexual abuse made by the victim pursuant to the so-called rape shield statute, S.C. Code § 16-3-659.1. (R. p. 13). The solicitor argued that the prior allegation was not in fact false in spite of the fact that law enforcement failed to pursue charges regarding the allegation. (R. p. 13, lines 20-24). In response, defense counsel presented the court with copies of State v. Boiter, 302 S.C. 381, 396 S.E.2d 364 (1990), and State v. Sprouse, 325 S.C. 275, 478 S.E.2d 871 (Ct. App. 1996), and argued that the Boiter case was “more in line with what this case is about.”¹ (R. p. 14, lines 6-11). The State then called Investigator Cheryl Cromartie of the Greenville County Sheriff’s Office to testify about the prior allegation. (R. p. 16-17). Investigator Cromartie testified that she was assigned to investigate an allegation of sexual abuse involving the victim in 2009. (R. p. 17, lines 5-16). The initial report of the alleged abuse was made by Deborah Sanders, who was apparently a friend of the victim’s family. (R. p. 17, lines 12-23). Ms. Sanders reported that the victim disclosed she was sexually abused by her mother’s new boyfriend.² (R. p. 18, lines 2-5; p. 20, lines 3-8; p. 26, lines 11-20). Ms. Sanders told police that the perpetrator performed oral sex on the victim and touched her on her vaginal area and on her buttock area. (R. p. 18, lines 4-8). Investigator Cromartie noted

¹ As Appellant explains in his Brief, despite the fact that the trial transcript is riddled with errors, it is clear defense counsel was referring to the Boiter case. (See Brief of Appellant, p. 6, footnote 1).

² The transcript reports the mother’s boyfriend’s name as “Kevin,” “Kelvin,” and “Calvin” at different points. (See R. p. 18, line 3; p. 20, lines 3-8; p. 26, lines 13-20; see also p. 129, line 11-12). However, the record is clear that both the victim and Ms. Sanders, the family friend who initially reported the allegations to law enforcement, stated that the perpetrator was the victim’s mother’s new boyfriend. (R. p. 23, line 22 – p. 24, line 12; p. 26, line 11- p. 27, line 16; p. 235-42).

that it is not unusual that when third parties make reports of sexual abuse, those reports are not entirely accurate. (R. p. 18, lines 16-19).

Investigator Cromartie spoke with the victim, who was then age seven, in person on December 1, 2009. (R. p. 18-19). During her interview with the victim, the victim disclosed that someone named “Kevin” or “Kelvin” touched her on her “pa pa” (her vaginal area) and “titties” (her breast area). (R. p. 19, lines 8-17; p. 20, lines 3-8). At one point in the interview, the victim explained that the perpetrator was her “mom’s boyfriend” and that the abuse occurred at his house on Rosenfield Road. (R. p. 23, lines 19-24; p. 24, lines 1-10). The victim also told Investigator Cromartie that her father’s name was “Kevin Brown.” (R. p. 23, lines 14-18). She never stated that her father was the one who abused her. (See R. p. 23, lines 23-24). Investigator Cromartie was told by the victim’s guardian that the victim’s father was not really a part of the victim’s life. (R. p. 26, lines 8-10).

Following this interview, Dr. Croswell performed a medical examination of the victim. (R. p. 19, lines 18-22). During the medical exam, the victim disclosed that someone named “Calvin” touched her “pa pa” (her vaginal area) with his hands and touched her feet. (R. p. 20, lines 12-19). Subsequently, the victim had two forensic interviews. (R. p. 20-21; p. 235-42). In the first forensic interview, the victim reported “Kevin” touched her on her “leg and body part” and on her buttocks. (R. p. 21, lines 10-15). At the end of the interview the victim reported that “Kevin” touched her on her leg and arm and denied being touched on her buttocks. (R. p. 21, lines 17-19). Also, during the first interview, the victim reported that she had witnessed the perpetrator having sexual relations with other girls; however, at the second interview she denied this until

she was questioned further and she then stated she had observed this but did not know details. (R. p. 21, lines 21-25). In the conclusion section of the forensic interview report, the interviewer stated that “[i]t is not clear if she can distinguish between Kevin and Calvin and her relationship to both of them.” (R. p. 242). However, the interviewer made clear that the victim had never accused her father of any sexual abuse. (See R. p. 235-42). In the “recommendations” section, the forensic interviewer recommended that the victim have no contact with “Kevin/Calvin,” that the victim participate in therapy, and that the victim be supervised around other children. (R. p. 242).

Ultimately, based on the “totality of the circumstances,” Investigator Cromartie chose not to seek criminal charges regarding the 2009 allegations. (R. p. 22, lines 5-14). She stated she “could not prove who the actual subject would have been” and “just didn’t have enough information or details to pursue criminal charges.” (R. p. 22, lines 11-14). She stated that law enforcement never made a determination that the victim lied or recanted her allegations. (R. p. 22, lines 15-20). She also testified that she did not believe the victim was fabricating the allegations. (R. p. 22, lines 21-24).

At the conclusion of Investigator Cromartie’s testimony, the judge asked defense counsel to explain how he had shown that the victim’s prior allegations were false.³ (R. p. 28, lines 13-14). Defense counsel responded that, although the perpetrator’s name got confused, since Kevin and Calvin “sound[] alike,” the police had the specifics regarding the perpetrator’s name and relationship to the victim – the mother’s boyfriend – yet failed to follow up on the allegations. (R. p. 28, lines 15-19; p. 29, line 17 – p. 30, line 7). He argued “the only inference that I can get from that” is that “nobody believed her and they

³ The defense did not present any witnesses at the pretrial hearing.

didn't go talk to the perpetrator." (R. p. 29, lines 3-6). He further stated: "I have no other way to show it. I can't get up here and hold her down and say you lied. That's the only thing I can do." (R. p. 29, lines 9-11).

The judge ultimately ruled that "nothing from the 2009 case is coming in." (R. p. 36, lines 11-12). The judge explained that based upon the way he read the Boiter case from the South Carolina Supreme Court, he had to make a threshold determination that the prior allegations were false, and based on the evidence before him, "I do not believe the defendant has proven to my satisfaction that the prior accusation made in 2009 was false." (R. p. 36, lines 14-25). Defense counsel objected to that ruling, stating "I believe I've presented enough with her direct statements and the police not following up, that it must have been false and that's all I know how to do." (R. p. 37, lines 15-19). Later in trial, the trial judge stated that the defendant renewed his objection on this basis during the cross-examination of the victim and that the issue was preserved. (See R. p. 152, line 13 – p. 153, line 8; see also p. 115, lines 10-11).

Issue Preservation

In support of his argument that the trial judge erred in excluding evidence of the victim's 2009 allegations, Appellant argues the prior allegations had to be false because the victim accused two different people of the same offense and both could not have been true. (See Brief of Appellant, p. 8; p. 11). However, defense counsel never made this argument below and in fact made **the exact opposite argument**: that the police had the perpetrator's name and relationship to the victim – the mother's new boyfriend – and yet failed to follow up on the allegations. (See R. p. 28, lines 15-19; p. 29, line 17 – p. 30, line 7; see also p. 232-33). Defense counsel also specifically pointed out that the

perpetrator's name got confused because "Kevin" and "Calvin" sound alike. (R. p. 28, line 17). Because Appellant made a completely different argument to the trial judge below, the new argument made on appeal regarding two different perpetrators is not preserved for review. See State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003) ("In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal."); State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 134, 620 S.E.2d 737, 741 (2005) (finding an issue not properly preserved for appeal where one ground is raised below and another ground is raised on appeal); State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58–59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005) (holding to preserve an issue for review there must be a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial court with the objection addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the exact error, and if a party fails to properly object, he is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal); see also I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 725 (2000) ("Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments."). Accordingly, this particular argument should be disregarded.

Also in support of his argument that the trial judge improperly excluded the victim's 2009 allegations, Appellant argues that the trial judge erred in interpreting State v. Boiter and required "a burden that was too high" under the Confrontation Clause. (See Brief of Appellant, p. 8; see p. 8-11). However, once again, this argument was not made to the trial judge below. Defense counsel did not argue that the judge was misinterpreting

Boiter, applying a burden that was too high, or violating the Confrontation Clause in making his ruling. (See R. p. 28-31; p. 36-37). Contrary to Appellant's assertion on page 8 of his Brief, defense counsel's statement that he knew of no other way to show the victim's prior allegations were false was not the equivalent of a Confrontation Clause argument. For these reasons, Appellant's Confrontation Clause argument should also be disregarded by this Court. See Freiburger, 366 S.C. at 134, 620 S.E.2d at 741 (issue not properly preserved where one ground raised below and another ground raised on appeal); Johnson, 363 S.C. at 58–59, 609 S.E.2d at 523 (to preserve an issue for review there must be a contemporaneous objection ruled upon by the trial court, and the objection must be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the exact error); State v. McWee, 322 S.C. 387, 391-92, 472 S.E.2d 235, 238 (1996) (constitutional issue not preserved for appeal because at trial appellant never cited any constitutional basis for his request); State v. Passmore, 363 S.C. 568, 584, 611 S.E.2d 273, 282 (Ct. App. 2005) (“The issue preservation requirement applies to assertions of constitutional violations as well.”).

Discussion

Evidence of prior false accusations by a victim of sexual abuse may be probative on the issue of credibility. State v. Boiter, 302 S.C. 381, 383, 396 S.E.2d 364, 365 (1990). However, although the Confrontation Clause generally tips the scales in favor of allowing cross-examination if it could reasonably be expected to have an effect on the jury, a court may prohibit cross-examination for impeachment purposes when the probative value of the evidence that the defendant seeks to elicit is substantially outweighed by the risk of prejudice. Id. In deciding the admissibility of evidence of a

victim's prior accusation, the trial judge should first determine whether such accusation was false. Id. If the trial judge determines the prior allegation was false, the judge should then consider remoteness in time of the prior allegation. Id. Finally, the trial court should consider the factual similarity between prior and present allegations to determine relevancy. Id. at 383-84, 396 S.E.2d at 365. Admission or exclusion of testimony of this nature is “largely discretionary with the trial court, and its rulings will not be disturbed on appeal unless an abuse of discretion is shown.” Id.

In Appellant’s case, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by excluding evidence of the victim’s 2009 allegations because Appellant failed to convince the trial judge of a threshold requirement – that the prior allegations were false. First, as defense counsel acknowledged and argued below, regardless of the fact that the perpetrator’s name got confused, the victim made the prior accusations against only one individual – her mother’s boyfriend. (See R. p. 28, lines 15-20). Appellant’s argument on appeal that the victim’s allegations were false because she accused two different people of the same offense is wholly without merit. Second, as held in the Boiter case itself, the fact that a previous accusation was not further investigated is not alone evidence establishing its falsity. Boiter at 384, 396 S.E.2d at 365 (“Based upon the record in this case, the previous accusation was not investigated. The defense presented no evidence to establish its falsity.”). In that vein, whether or not the police subjectively believed the prior allegations is likewise not conclusive. (See R. p. 28-31; p. 37, lines 15-19). Cf. State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 356, 737 S.E.2d 490, 498 n4 (2013) (pointing out that people who interview children regarding abuse are not automatically “human truth detectors”). Even under the “reasonable probability” standard urged by Appellant (see Brief of Appellant,

p. 10-11), the falsity of the victim's prior allegations in this case was "inconclusive at best" because Appellant's showing "neither proved nor disproved" falsity. Abram v. Gerry, 672 F.3d 45, 50-51 (1st Cir. 2012).

Unlike in the cases cited by Appellant in his Brief, the victim in this case – who was only six or seven years old at the time her caretaker reported the allegations to law enforcement – did not ever specifically recant the prior allegations or admit she had a specific motive for fabricating them. See Redmond v. Kingston, 240 F.3d 590 (7th Cir. 2001); White v. Coplan, 399 F.3d 18 (1st Cir. 2005). Furthermore, Appellant's contention that "he had no other way to prove the falsity" of the victim's prior allegations is simply not correct. (See Brief of Appellant, p. 8). In fact, in the pretrial hearing, Appellant could have called as witnesses the victim, the victim's mother, the victim's father, the victim's caretaker, or anyone else involved in the victim's life at the time the prior allegations were made. Had Appellant at least called the victim as a witness in the pretrial hearing, the trial judge *might* have had some basis upon which to determine the prior allegations were false. However, as it stands, the showing made in the pretrial hearing was wholly insufficient to demonstrate that the victim's prior allegations were false and that they were admissible as impeachment evidence in Appellant's trial.⁴ Cf. U.S. v. Crow Eagle, 705 F.3d 325, 328-29 (8th Cir. 2013) (upholding the district court's exclusion of the victims' prior sexual-assault allegations where, despite delayed

⁴ Even assuming the allegations were false, the prior allegations - involving oral sex and touching - were not relevant where they were not similar to the allegations against Appellant - involving anal rape - and therefore did not demonstrate a motive to lie or a pattern of fabricating similar incidents of abuse. Boiter at 383-84, 396 S.E.2d at 365 (in determining the admissibility of prior allegations, the trial court should consider the factual similarity between the prior and present allegations to determine relevancy; a court may prohibit cross-examination regarding the prior allegations when the probative value of such evidence is substantially outweighed by the risk of prejudice); see also U.S. v. Bartlett, 856 F.2d 1071, 1089 (8th Cir. 1988) (it was not error to exclude evidence of a prior allegedly false allegation of rape in light of the minimal probative value of this evidence).

disclosure of the prior allegations and despite the fact that the prior allegations were not prosecuted, the evidence of falsity was “weak” and a conclusion that the prior allegations were untrue would have required the jury to rely on sheer speculation; furthermore, admission of this evidence would have triggered mini-trials concerning the allegations wholly unrelated to the case being tried and would have therefore increased the danger of jury confusion); State v. Quinn, 200 W.Va. 432, 490 S.E.2d 34 (1997) (concluding the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by finding that proffered evidence of the child victim’s prior allegations of abuse against other individuals was within the scope of the rape shield law where the defendant failed to meet the threshold requirement to show “based on substantial proof” that the prior allegations were false). Therefore, the trial judge did not err by excluding this evidence.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above, the State requests that this Court affirm Appellant's convictions and sentences.